
UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
NORTHERN DISTRICT OF GEORGIA 

ATLANTA DIVISION 
 

JAMES COREY EATON and 
STEVEN PAUL SMITH, on behalf 
of themselves and all others similarly 
situated, 
 

Plaintiffs, 
 

v. 
 
ATLANTA SUPERSOURCE, INC. 
and TIM MARTIN, 
 

Defendants. 

 
 
 

Civil Action File No. 
 

_________________________ 
 

JURY TRIAL DEMANDED 

 
COLLECTIVE ACTION COMPLAINT 

 
COME NOW Plaintiffs James Corey Eaton and Steven Paul Smith 

(hereinafter “Plaintiffs”) in the above-styled matter and file this Collective Action 

Complaint against Defendants Atlanta SuperSource, Inc. (hereinafter 

“SuperSource”) and Tim Martin (hereinafter “Martin”) (collectively “Defendants”) 

and respectfully show the Court as follows: 

INTRODUCTION 

1.  

 This is an action under the Fair Labor Standards Act (FLSA), 29 U.S.C. 201 

et seq., as amended, for SuperSource’s failure to pay regular wages and overtime 
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wages to Plaintiffs and similarly situated employees for any hours worked over 

forty (40) hours per week.   

PARTIES, JURISDICTION, AND VENUE 

2.  

Plaintiff James “Jim” Corey Eaton is a resident of Cobb County, Georgia, 

who resides at 2660 Lake Park Bend, Acworth, Georgia 30101. 

3.  

 Plaintiff Steven Paul Smith is a resident of Fulton County, Georgia, who 

resides at 415 Morgan Falls Road, Apt 9302, Atlanta, Georgia 30350.  

4.  

Defendant SuperSource is a domestic corporation registered and licensed to 

do business in the State of Georgia. SuperSource may be served through its 

registered agent: Sheldon Friedman, 5555 Glenridge Connector NE, Suite 925, 

Atlanta, Georgia 30342.  

5.  

 Defendant Tim Martin is the Vice President of Service for SuperSource who 

may be served at SuperSource’s principal place of business, 3544 Kennesaw 75 

Parkway, Suite 100, Kennesaw, Georgia 30144. 
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6.  

 This court has jurisdiction over this matter under 28 U.S.C. § 1331.  Federal 

question jurisdiction arises pursuant to the Fair Labor Standards Act (FLSA), 29 

U.S.C. § 201 et seq., as amended.   

7.  

 This Court has personal jurisdiction over the Defendants because they 

transact business and/or reside in the Northern District of Georgia. 

8.  

 Venue in this Court is proper pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §1391(b) and (c) 

because Defendants are subject to personal jurisdiction in the Northern District of 

Georgia. 

STATEMENT OF FACTS 

9.  

Plaintiff Eaton began working for SuperSource on September 28, 2015.   

10.  

Plaintiff Smith began working for SuperSource on or around July 25, 2017. 

11.  

Plaintiffs were employed as Service Technicians by SuperSource.  
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12.  

 Plaintiffs’ job duties consisted of performing maintenance and repair work 

on dish washers and laundry equipment for clients of SuperSource, including 

restaurants, golf clubs, hotels, and other businesses within Georgia. 

13.  

During the time that Plaintiffs were employed by SuperSource, SuperSource 

was an “enterprise engaged in commerce” as defined in 29 U.S.C. §§ 203(s) and 

207(a)(1). 

14.   

 During the time that Plaintiffs were employed by SuperSource, SuperSource 

had two or more “employees engaged in commerce” as defined by 29 U.S.C. § 

203(s)(1)(A). 

15.  

 During the time that Plaintiffs were employed by SuperSource, SuperSource 

had two or more “employees handling, selling, or otherwise working on goods or 

materials that have been moved in or produced for commerce by any person,” as 

defined in 29 U.S.C. § 203(s)(1)(A). 
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16.  

During the time that Plaintiffs were employed by SuperSource, 

SuperSource’s annual dollar volume of sales of business transactions exceeded 

$500,000.00 per year. 

17.  

 During the time that Plaintiffs were employed by SuperSource, SuperSource 

vested Defendant Tim Martin with supervisory authority over Plaintiffs.  

18.  

 During the time that Plaintiffs were employed by SuperSource, Defendant 

Martin exercised supervisory authority over Plaintiffs. 

19.  

 During the time that Plaintiffs were employed by SuperSource, Defendant 

Martin scheduled Plaintiffs’ working hours or supervised the scheduling of 

Plaintiffs’ working hours. 

20.  

 During the time that Plaintiffs were employed by SuperSource, Defendant 

Martin exercised authority and supervision over Plaintiffs’ compensation and set or 

established compensation plans with respect to Plaintiffs.  
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21.  

 At all times that Plaintiffs were employed by SuperSource, Defendants were 

Plaintiffs’ employers for the purposes of the FLSA. 

22.  

 At all times relevant to this suit and while employed by SuperSource, 

Plaintiffs were not exempt from the maximum hour requirements of the FLSA by 

reason of any exemption set forth in 29 U.S.C. § 213. 

23.  

 Plaintiff Eaton initially earned $42,000 per year when hired.     

24.  

Based on his exceptional work, Plaintiff Eaton was awarded a raise from 

$42,000 per year to $45,000 per year on September 28, 2016. 

25.  

 Plaintiff Eaton was set to receive another raise in or around October 2017 

from $45,000 to $52,000, but this raise was never implemented. 

26.  

 Plaintiff Eaton resigned from SuperSource on or around November 13, 

2017. 
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27.  

 Plaintiff Smith was hired at a salary of $40,000 per year and did not receive 

any raises before he resigned on or around February 4, 2018.  

28.  

Prior to April 16, 2017, SuperSource required Plaintiffs to work one (1) 

week on-call and one (1) week as “backup” followed by one (1) week off as 

“compensatory time” on a rolling basis. 

29.  

 Plaintiffs and similarly situated employees worked more than forty (40) 

hours per week almost every week while employed by SuperSource. 

30.  

 Plaintiffs and similarly situated employees regularly had to drive several 

hours to client’s locations for service calls.  

31.  

During weeks Plaintiffs and similarly situated employees were on-call, they 

regularly worked sixty-five (65) to eighty (80) hours per week.     

32.  

During weeks Plaintiffs worked as backup, they regularly worked fifty (50) 

hours per week.     
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33.  

Prior to April 2017, SuperSource failed to pay Plaintiff Eaton and similarly 

situated employees any regular wages or overtime wages for any hours worked 

over forty (40) hours per week. 

34.  

 Instead of regular wages and overtime wages, SuperSource offered Plaintiff 

Eaton and similarly situated employees a week off as “comp time” in lieu of pay.   

35.  

 The use of compensatory time off is limited to state and government 

employees and is not allowed for private employers.  29 C.F.R. §§ 553.20 et seq.  

36.  

 From September 28, 2015 to September 28, 2016, Plaintiff Eaton’s effective 

hourly rate was $20.19.   

37.  

Thus, from September 28, 2015 to September 28, 2016, Plaintiff Eaton’s 

overtime rate should have been $30.29 for any hours worked over forty (40) hours 

per week.  
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38.  

From September 28, 2016 to October 2017, Plaintiff Eaton’s effective 

hourly rate was $22.60. 

39.  

Thus, from September 28, 2016 to October 2017, Plaintiff Eaton’s effective 

overtime rate should have been $33.90 for any hours worked over forty (40) hours 

per week.   

40.  

Plaintiff Eaton and similarly situated employees were not paid regular wages 

or overtime wages for any hours over forty (40) hours per week prior to April 16, 

2017.  

41.  

Accordingly, based on his effective hourly rate of $20.19 with 

corresponding overtime rate of $30.29 from September 28, 2015 to September 28, 

2016, Plaintiff Eaton should have been paid approximately $757.25 to $1,211.60 

for each week he was on-call based on the twenty-five (25) to forty (40) hours of 

overtime worked over forty (40) hours each week.   
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42.  

From September 28, 2016 to approximately April 16, 2017, based on an 

effective hourly rate of $22.60 with a corresponding overtime rate of $33.89, 

Plaintiff Eaton should have been paid approximately $847.25 to $1,355.60 for each 

week he was on-call based on an the twenty-five (25) to forty (40) hours of 

overtime worked over forty (40) hours each week. 

43.  

For weeks Plaintiff Eaton worked as backup between November 2015 to 

October 2016, Plaintiff Eaton should have been paid approximately $302.90 in 

additional wages and overtime for the approximate ten (10) hours of overtime 

worked over forty (40) hours per week based on his effective hourly rate of $20.19 

with a corresponding overtime rate of $30.29.  

44.  

For weeks Plaintiff Eaton worked as backup between September 28, 2016 to 

approximately April 16, 2017, Plaintiff Eaton should have been paid 

approximately $338.90 in additional wages and overtime for the approximate ten 

(10) hours of overtime worked over forty (40) hours per week based on his 

effective hourly rate of $22.60 with a corresponding overtime rate of $33.89. 
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45.  

On or around April 16, 2017, SuperSource changed its compensation policy 

and began paying overtime wages for any hours over forty-five (45) hours per 

week.   

46.  

The FLSA requires payment of overtime for any hours worked over forty 

(40) hours for non-exempt employees.  29 U.S.C. § 207. 

47.  

Therefore, Plaintiffs Eaton and Smith and similarly situated employees 

should have been paid additional regular and overtime wages for any hours 

between forty (40) and forty-five (45).   

48.  

Plaintiff Eaton should have been paid an additional $169.45 per week from 

April 16, 2017 to November 13, 2017, based on his effective hourly rate of $22.60 

with corresponding overtime rate of $33.89. 

49.  

Plaintiff Smith should have been paid an additional $144.25 per week from 

July 25, 2017 to February 4, 2018, based on his effective hourly rate of $19.23 

with corresponding overtime rate of $28.85. 
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50.  

Furthermore, Defendants did not pay Plaintiffs and similarly situated 

employees for all overtime for hours worked over forty-five (45) hours per week 

after April 16, 2017.   

51.  

 The above calculations are based on documents and information available to 

Plaintiffs at this time.  The full extent of the SuperSource’s violation of federal law 

will be revealed throughout the course of discovery in this lawsuit. 

52.   

 Defendant Martin, Vice President of Service for SuperSource, knew that 

Plaintiffs were owed overtime wages and knowingly failed to pay the same. 

53.  

 After an investigation by the United States Department of Labor, 

SuperSource began paying overtime for any hours worked over forty (40) hours 

per week in or around March 2018. 

54.  

 Additionally, Plaintiff Eaton had one (1) week of PTO/vacation remaining 

that he has not been paid for by SuperSource.  
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55.  

Accordingly, Plaintiff Eaton is owed $903.85 in unpaid, accrued 

PTO/vacation pay.  

COUNT ONE – VIOLATION OF THE  

FAIR LABOR STANDARDS ACT (FLSA), 29 U.S.C. § 207 

56.  

Plaintiffs re-allege and incorporate by reference Paragraphs 1 through 55. 

57.  

 Plaintiffs regularly worked in excess of forty (40) hours in a standard work 

week. 

58.  

 Defendants were aware of, permitted, and required Plaintiffs’ overtime 

work. 

59.  

 For every hour worked in excess of forty (40) hours, Plaintiffs were entitled 

to one and one-half times the regular rate at which each Plaintiff was employed, 

pursuant to 29 U.S.C. § 207(a)(2).  
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60.  

 Defendant SuperSource willfully failed to pay Plaintiffs at one and one-half 

times their regular rate of pay for hours worked in excess of forty (40) per week 

from prior to April 16, 2017. 

61.  

 After April 16, 2017, Defendant SuperSource failed to pay Plaintiffs one and 

one-half times their regular rates of pay for hours worked between forty (40) and 

forty-five (45) hours per week. 

62.  

  After April 16, 2017, Defendant SuperSource failed to pay Plaintiffs for 

additional hours worked beyond forty (40) hours per week. 

63.  

 Defendant Tim Martin, Vice President of Service for SuperSource, knew 

that Plaintiffs were owed overtime and knowingly failed to pay Plaintiffs overtime 

in accordance with Federal law. 

64.  

 Defendant Martin acted directly in the interest of SuperSource in relation to 

Plaintiffs’ compensation and means or methods of compensation. 
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65.  

 Defendants SuperSource and Martin are each liable, severally and jointly, to 

Plaintiffs for the failure to pay Plaintiffs overtime pursuant to the Fair Labor 

Standards Act. 

66.  

 Such failure to pay overtime wages in violation of the Fair Labor Standards 

Act damaged Plaintiffs in an amount to be proven at trial on this matter, and 

Plaintiffs are entitled to Liquidated Damages, attorneys’ fees, and expenses in 

accordance with 29 U.S. Code § 216(b). 

COUNT TWO – LIQUIDATED DAMAGES/PUNITIVE DAMAGES 

67.  

Plaintiffs re-allege and incorporate by reference Paragraphs 1 through 66. 

68.  

 Pursuant to 29 U.S.C. § 216(b), Plaintiffs are entitled to Liquidated Damages 

in an amount double the unpaid overtime wages to be proven at trial in accordance 

with the Fair Labor Standards Act.  

69.  

  Pursuant to O.C.G.A. § 51-12-5.1, Punitive Damages are appropriate in this 

action so as to penalize and punish Defendants for their willful misconduct, malice, 
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fraud, wantonness, oppression, or that entire want of care which would raise the 

presumption of conscious indifference to consequences. Further, Plaintiffs are 

entitled to an award of punitive damages to deter Defendants from any such further 

conduct. 

COUNT THREE – ATTORNEYS’ FEES 

70.  

Plaintiffs re-allege and incorporate by reference Paragraphs 1 through 69. 

71.  

 Pursuant to 29 U.S. Code § 216(b), Plaintiffs are entitled to collection of 

their attorneys’ fees and expenses of litigation for all claims brought herein. 

 WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs demand the following: 

(a) That process issue and the Defendants be served according to law; 

(b) That a judgment be entered declaring this action to be a collective action 

properly maintained under 29 U.S.C. § 216(b), that the Representative 

Plaintiffs be designated as representatives of the FLSA Class, and that 

their counsel of record be designated as the FLSA Class Counsel; 

(c) That Representative Plaintiffs be granted a trial by jury; 

(d) That Defendants be found to have willfully and intentionally violated the 

Fair Labor Standards Act; 
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(e) That judgment be entered in favor of the Representative Plaintiffs and the 

FLSA Class for three (3) years of Representative Plaintiffs’ back-owed 

regular and overtime wages; 

(f) That Representative Plaintiffs be awarded pre-judgment interest; 

(g) That liquidated damages be awarded to Representative Plaintiffs for three 

(3) years of unpaid overtime in accordance with the Fair Labor Standards 

Act; 

(h) That Representative Plaintiffs recover their attorneys’ fees, costs, and 

expenses of litigation pursuant to 29 U.S. Code § 216(b); 

(i) Such other and further relief as this Court deems just and proper. 

 Respectfully submitted, this 25th day of April, 2018.1 

 
 
 
PARKS, CHESIN & WALBERT, P.C. 
75 Fourteenth Street, 26th Floor 
Atlanta, GA 30309 
Telephone: 404-873-8000 
Fax: 404-873-8050 

Counsel for Plaintiffs 

/s/ M. Travis Foust    
M. Travis Foust 
Georgia Bar No. 104996 
Email: tfoust@pcwlawfirm.com 
J. Daniel Cole 
Georgia Bar No. 450675 
Email: dcole@pcwlawfirm.com 

 
                                                 
1 Pursuant to Local Rule 7.1(D), undersigned counsel certifies that this filing has 
been prepared with one of the font and point selections approved by the Court in 
Local Rule 5.1(B). 
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